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Tné f;;sa 19th oceatury MNew York Siate glssshouse about ;Lich ;# ,“"
uaﬁy'fécta have been gstnered ie :ns Rensselasr GlAii Fagtory ed
Glasg Luke and the southeastern twurnpike to Baih and Williams town,

10 or 12 milee from Troy and Albauy.Ite hisnory,tnough inoomplete
and sometimes blurred by con.radictory &gcounis of events,is typiocekl
of its period.

Traditions differ about the start of the glassnouse .80 far w¢ have
been unable to substantiate ithe exciting Pied Piper tale thuat one of
{ts founcers,a Scoteman pamed William Riochmond, returned to hie nativo
land for 8cotch glese blowe}s,nAturally the best in the world.He
donned & kilt,wore & patch over one &ye and plaved the bagpipes &s he
vagebonded through the Cambrie glass diestrict gathering the blowsere
with glowing @&ccouants of Amerioﬁ and eventually emuggled someé 80F088
the ssa.

Put no matter how deviously orafismen wWere pecured or Wnen ihe
factory ssarxved, the foliowing edversisement appeared in the fall of
1806 waioh lonvth po doubts tnat tne factoyy was operating thea:

| James Eane & Co.

Hava opened a store &% he Rengselaer Glase Factory nsar theé

gand Lake where they will keep s constant supply of dry goods and

grooerien. Rensselaer Glass Faciory Mov.4, 1805

Jemes Kkmce of Albany wes one of the four mércha&ndisiag brotnoms'”

who establighed general stores in several comaunities.

Fob.38,1808 ihe Reasseloer Glags Faoctory was ind@orporated for
14 yoars by nine men {molnding Jeremiah Vaa Reneselaer, Elkanah #3u800,
George Pearson 8pd Jemes ERas,members of the lnnilzen Maoufag turiag
Meloty opereting ioe Hamilion or Albany Glase tom Their agent, ‘
tuportutendent.nll artificere and workmen were oxg-gtod from 3nrv lnd

. milisia duty & lm as they wise in the mﬁn nplov-u bise tom

ey (ol post -msﬁ » m.mh -
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boeming .in Deceaber 1806 the compdny joined with th@lﬁib&ag o

an &ppahl to Oongress for higher duties ,a suoject oo whioh 8% the t&h@

—

)ngress was perd of he®ring and of nhears.jin th‘ early fall of 1812 1hbn

n
crowa house pburned down.lumediately the president and board of dltuotit&
jevied upon the stooknoldezs fer tne purpose of rebuilding 1%

Eacu esnbre Wae agsepsed 81T $50 of snis ¥8 $20 was to De paid 1in
20 days, #<0 in B0 days and $10 in 90 aaye.Failure 10 pay meant
forfeiture of whe stock. By JenuuIy 1813 wne house pad veen rebuil t.
Reneselaer Crown ag well &8 cylinder glaes #guperior %0 any wede in this
gtate" was once moTe on the market.1f ube oompany did pot posaess & 118
engine vbefore the fire,it did af terward, LWO of them. |

Anotner calamity wés 4n store for the works.By 1l¢lb 1ie prospecfn
weresubmersed bv & flo0d of postWar importe.1In ovembDer ine coming
guctvion of ihe glauaworka WRE aL%OItiBBﬂ by 1us agent,Joba Reid,Alceny ’
merchbunt.0n Tueadby,reb.s.ldlﬁ .ne clesred 1and, wood lots,glecaworLs,
gawmill and WO nouses for vae superiunendenns, 84 dwellings fOT
workmen, LLe sensral stLore and cirus were %0 pe put on the vlooit.

On the following fuesday De peraou&l property wag O U6 gold &L
tne faculory jncluding horsos,wagoue and sletgns.soolu £or Dlowers apd &
compleve 8ev of iiaw;houao {ron vbar aad lrod omatinge, sEEIR fireslone

and sand,cley and otuher paterials [OTF meking glass ——and the to fire

engines.
vnat

In 1lule tae cylinoer houseé purned down.prasumably after Lu® Ccrovwnnguse
sug wes used oI we£lng boun cypes of gluss.From cpen uawil wue apring of
1319 tne recoxd 1is obsoure excipt for coutvioused advertising o7 gvlinder
glas-.ln April apouts the nadix of the depressloa,tue Hew YorIk BLa e
Asgembly pessed 80 act for .be relief of tbe preeident and directors who,
paving kept the bhouse 4 opexutioa in splie of continuous 1088 wished

gall tneir esidie and pay their dec.s -permission Wes grauted. It 18 said

chat &. this point lssad Fox,who Tea & general s.o¥e st Reasselaer Willags
{vhe glessnousé omiw),]aman greadall aad Abrehas Grego¥y fize s
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entered tne picture.l. any even: the works whe in full blast tnat fall,

In tre fall of l¥g4 Crandall,Fox & Jo. failed for $14,766 2ad s
Rickard J.Xnowlsom of Albany purcntased the progerty‘at nnotlff‘a %8 18
im Mare.. 155, Pifteen monihe later since 1t had not Léen redsemed,
Knowlson ook %iile aud prompily &dveriised it for rale.ig®in the picture
fades.i few scaiiered advertisenents show Lhat wiuadow glase vae Telug wade
at tﬁa fuctory aad LLat it ne&d o coumpete %iih BEEY oLher Zlassious s,

Since in :te spring of 1rd0 tue Henpseléer Glass uUd. was fuourpiiaed
for &1 years by Ricnard Enowlson,Daniel Md.Gregory aad Iszac Fox,lt mey
have Leel tnAt they were opertating wue fBeciory during Lnose vedis.Turee
ye&re lezer the Sia.e Agsembly refused ihe requeets of Knowlmon and 2Liers
t0 reiucorporéie with 8n increksed oc&piial etock om tne gioulas Ll Lite
factory was doing very well on itis curremnt L&sis.

Atout this time,accoraing to local irediiiou,rlowers fr o Hualh
Jersey arrived #t :ne glasgworks w#hich some Of them vo0n re. = .Tieve 1
no doubt tnet ®illiem eand Johu Gacler were tiere ihea for Lhey uru.sssd
property.In 135 3iadlers, husn & Co. peid Knowlaon and nig wite 5,00
for the yzluss worke .Pernups & victim of vhe 153V panio,the compu.y Jeilea
in 163&.Kaowlson aud Fox were wppointed trusiees &nd 8% 000e SGLO LLs
works to Fox's sons,Alcert aund Bamuel,who opertted 1t uatil 1803 wien 13
wae destrovea oy fire.

Quite & pumver of individuml pleces nuve rLeeu loce.od 1o homes i
tbe vicinity of the Rensseluer Glass Fac.ory or Beud Leke Gléss 40ris 8@
it was cslled lgcally. The &rticles eonsist mostly of voWlsg,plivae.s, juls
and "whimeies" such 88 glass c@nes-All &re Iree blowa from aquacasiue
gless and are free from ornamenidiion.i Jobletu,stid to bhave reen blown by
Joan Gabler ,is &n exception io two respecis--ite color ,a olea: ,trillisas

e

deep green &nd its fundt!on; & drinkiay vessel .

o

o

(

Mr.Goodwin copled tnis from "Two Hundred Years 0f Ameriocan

Qlasz” by Helen #nd @eorgs MoFemrin in toe E.Y.3ta e Librerv.
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By: Donald G. Carpentier May, 1969
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THE STORY OF THE GLASS LAKE WORKS

On May 12, 1785, a contract was signed between three Dutchmen
who began an era of glassmaking in Albany and Rensselaer countlos
which would last for a period of 65 years. Although the records
of these factories are gone and the remaining stories in the
Y"histories" are clouded, there is enough informaticn to draw some
conclusions which pertain to the facts known about the twin glass
works.

The three Dutchmen who signed the agreement were Jan de Neuf-

villé, Leonard Heefke and Ferdinand Walfahert, the manager. With
-~ the signing of this document, two glgss factories were ?o be built.
The Hamilton Glass Factory was erected in 1?8? in Hamilton; and
the Glass Lake Glass Works was built in 1788 in Glass Lake, Néw
York.

The Hamidton glass works was located in what is now Guilderland,
or what was then Hamilton, named after Alexander Hamilton. The site
of the factory ruins is eight miles northwest of Albany in what now
£s a strawberry field owned by Matthew M. Liedkiear Waterpower was
supblied to the factory by the Hungerkill creek and wood was obtained
from local forests. The factory site was excavated in 1964 by the

. Junior MKuseum in Troy, but little information was gained. The pro-

duce of the factory was window glass, demijohns, pocket bottles and

snuff bottles. Neufville's factory was started with 24 or 25 glass

blowers imported from Germany by Heefke. . The factory was run by the

N



three Dutchmen until 1790 when it was abandoned because of a fin-

ancial collapse.

In 1792 the works were taken over by McClallen, MacGregor and
Company. This company also had financial difficulties and in 1793,
it obtained a loan of three thousand pounds for a period of eight
years with no interest for the first three years and fivé percent
for the next five. With the loss of McClallen in 1794, the factory
came under the management of MacGregor and Company.

In 1797 the factory was incorporated as the Hamilton Manufac-
turing Society. The Hamilton Society and the Glass Lake factory
then jointly submitted a petition to Congress asking for an increase
in the duties on imported glass and were promptly denied. The
factory continued in operation until 1815 when it closed permanently
because of a lack of wood.

The Glass Lake factory was built on the banks of Glass Lake’
about 15 miles east of Albany in the town of Sand Lake or Glass
House Lake, Rg{gselaer Village, as it-was then called. It was
thought, when the factory was started, that the sand deposits around
the lake would be sufficient for glass making, but it was soon
found out that the sand there produced glass that was to9 dark for
window glass and only good for bottles: Tﬁerefore, the sand needed
was brought in from Ha;cock, Massachusetts, in horse-drawn wagons.
Haterpowgr for the factory was obtained from the then-undammed
Wynantskill creek flowing out of Glass House Lake. This factory
was started one year after the Hamilton factory was started in Albany
and, therefore, it is possible and probable that the factory was

started with German glass blowers brought over from Germany by Heefke for



the Hamilton factory. The three Dutchmen were able to hold on to

this factory five yeafs longer than their Hﬁmilton factory, but as
their financial difficulties mounted, they had to sell the factory
in 1795 to Robert MacGregor and Company, who had taken over their
Hamilton factory in 1794. Included in MacGregor's enterprize were
Elkanah Watson, Jeremiah Van Rensselaer and Thomas and Samuel Mather.
This company didn't last, however, and on April 17, 1795, it was
renamed Thomas Mather and Company. A new company was established
in 1796 and consisted of Jeremiah Van Rensselaer, John Saunders,
Abraham Ten Eyck, Elkanah Watson, Frederick A. DeZeng, K. K. Van
Rensselaer, Douw Fonda, Walter Cochran and Samuel Mather. No title
has been found for the company and this venture was said to have
ended in 1806. This conflicts with the fact that 5 BLAEE SENDEEY
of Sloénsville, Albany County, purchased five thousand acres of land
around Glass Lake from Stephen Van Rensselaer in 1800. This enter-
prize was promoted by James Kane, William Richmond and Major
Frothingham. This might mean that the company established in 1796
was concludedvih 1800 and sold to the Sloansville trio who added
the large acreage to the company. This business could then have
been incorporated into the Rensselaer Glass Works with Major
Frothingham as the superintendent and Jereﬁiah Van Rensselaer,
Elisha Jenkins, Elkanah Watson, George Pearson, Fred Jenkins,
Rensselaer Havens, Francis Bloodgood and William Richmond as mem-
bgrs. Each member of the corporation had a share or stock certi-
ficate of 1,000 dollars. Many of these members were mentioned pre-
viously as they were connected with earlier glass companies at

Glase Lake and Hamilton in Albany. The Boktonian, Major Frothingham,




previously mayor of Hudson, New York, upon moving to Glass Lake
in approximately 17?8, built the houses for superintendents on
Cylinder Streetf\ Cylinder Street is now routes 43 and 66 and was
named after the type of glass, cylinder glass, manufactured there.
The superintendent's home is now owned by the Edmans family.

Another member of the corporation was Francis Bloodgood, the
president of the State Bank of Albany, having Elisha Jenkins,
Elkanah Watson, and Thomas Mather as directors of the bank.

William Richmond, also a member, was sent to Scotland to re-
cruit Scottish glass blowers, whicﬁ he did dressed as an itinerant
bagpiper. A few of the glass blowers imported were Gottlieb Gatler ®
and his sons, William, John, Thomas &and George; also, a Mr. McClellan,
a Mr. Bailey and a Mr. Green.

Another hazy bit of information taken from a Federal census
of manufacturing for l810 lists two glass factories in Rensselaer
County. Therq\are no names given and this mistake in number could
be due to the fact that sometimes there was more than one person
taking the census in a county.

In the fall of 1812, the factory was destroyed by fire and
was rebuilt by anuary, 1813. This was done on an improved plan
with the financial aid of the-Hamilton Glass Works and by assessing
each share of stock for fifty dollars. The first twenty dollars
was to be paid within thirty days, the second twenty within sixty
days a;d the last tep within ninety days. Failure to pay meant
forfeiture of stock. In 1816 the factory again burned and was

4.

abandoned until 1819. lHereafter, the comﬁany's inventory always

included two fire engines.




In 1819 Isaac B. Fox, Nathan R. Crandall and Company rebuilt

the house for manufacturing cylinder glass. With the withdrawal

of Gregory in 1823, and a sum of debts amounting to $14,766, the
financial failure of the factory forced its sale in March, 1825,

to Richard J. Knowlson. Included in the sale were 346 acres of
land, a buiiding for producing crown glass with all necessaré tools,
two houses for superintendents, twenty-four workman}s dwelling
houses, two large barns and a store. Knowlson continued the busi-
hessruntil July, 1835, when it was sold to Stadlers, Ruch and
Company. During this period when Knowlson owned the factory, it

is said that Knowlson was in on another factory at Glass Lake with ~
a Mr. Schneuiss. This conflicts with other information found,

but it could mean that Mr. Schneuiss came into the factory as a
;artner between 1831 and 1833. :

Stadlers, Ruch and Company paid Knowlson $3,500 for the fac-
tory and continued it-for four years. Their company was formed
with South Jersey glass blowers and was known as the Sand Lake
Glass Works, ghding the earlier glass works known as the Rensselaer
Glass Company.

Albert R. Fox and Samuel H. Fox then bought the business.
These brothers were the sons of Isaac B. Fox, of Fox, Crandell and
Co., owners from 1819. The factory was run by the Fox brothers
continupusly until 1853, when the factory burned and was abandoned
permanently. When the Fox brothers took over the business in 1839,
they had a total employment of sixty men, a capital invested of
$12,000 and a value of articles produced gt 330,000. Eleven years

-

later,-the industrial census showed an employment of fifty men and




an investment of $25,000. During the ownership of the Fox's, many

of the houses around the lake were built; among these were the
present Doll Museum, Mr. Mark Perry's home and its identical twin
next door.

The products of the glass works were alwéys thought to be
crown glass, cyiinder glass, and off-hand or whimsy pieces of agua,
amber and amythest glass. Recently, some black slag glass was dis-
covered by Mrs. Edmans and it was dug from under the kitchen of her
house. It had been used as.fill when the house was built and,
since this house was built in 1798, this means that the factory was
produciﬁg black glass, used in bottle making, previous to this time.
Therefore, it is very possible that #the Albrany historical flasks
could have been made there, even after the Hauwilton Glass Works was
ocut of business. Bottle molds could have been brought over from
the Hamilton works and used there also.

A numbeqxpf bottles which have been attributed to the Sand
Lake works have recently been discovered. These bottles are aqua,
blown in a mold, pontiled, have a tooled lip and were found on
the property of the glass works. Tﬂese bottles wefe made for a
Dr. Evans of Schodack, New York. There are two types of bottles,
round ones for teething syrup-and square ones for camomile pills.
Mrs. Sproule has a similar bottle, but it had no embossing and
+t was -also attributed to the Glass Lake Glass Works. These bottles
were produced sometime betwee; 1810 and 1840 according to the
Corning Glass Company. With the quantity of Evans' bottles found,
it is certéin that they aren't "offhand“.;ieces. This also helps

to strengthen the idea that bottles were made there. This may




open a new door to the produce of the factory and, therefore, bring

to light more specimens of bottles produced at the works.

_ The glass made at the Glass Lake factory was of the highest
quality in the state and it was reported in an early newspaper that
the windows in the White House and the Capitol in Washington, D. C.,

were made at Glass Lake.

Because of the numerous fires that frequented the factory,

. there is little way-possible to verify the assumptions or suppo-

sitions gathered about the works, except through old letters and
adfertisements ih meny of the old papers from Albany and Troy. )
These 0ld newspapers are very hard to find. Maybe someone will
discover some records stashed away in one of the homes around

Glass Lake or Hamilton, but at this time it is very unlikely.
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1 1805 Stephen Van Rensselaer leased some 5000 acres of
land in Sand Lake to a group of Albany county businessmen
who were engaged in glass making at Sloansville. These men
buill furnaces for the manufacture of Crown and Cylinder
glass an the shores of Sand Lake (now Crystal Lake).

On February 28, 1806, the State Legislature of New York
passed an act to incorporate The Rensselaer Glass Works.

al stock did not exceed 100 shares at $1000 each, One
of the original incorporators was Major Thomas Frothing-
ham, whose house still stands at Glass Lake.

It was soon discovered, however, that the glass at Sand
Lake was too dark and therefore unacceptable for window
glass. The works were then moved to the north west corner of
Glass Lake, then called Rouses Lake. At this time, Glass
Lake village was known as Rensselaer Village. Sand for the

sorks was imported from Massachusetts and, despite the
iack of skilled labor available, it continued in business until
1815 when it burned te the ground.

The original company was dissolved in 1819 and wa
purchased by Isaae Fox and Nathan Crandali, who turned
out a large amount of window glass and a number of “off
hand™ blown specimens, for neighborhood households use
until 1830.

From 183¢ until 1833, the plant was leased by Stadler
Rush and Co. of South Jersey, Four Gabler brothers, Joseph,
William, Nelson and John, each took charge of a certain part
of the glass works,

In 1833, Albert and Samuel Fox, sons of Isaac, took over
the works and ran it successfully until 1853 when fire entirely
destroyed the plant. During this period of twenly years, the
Fox brothers erected a large frame building called
Mechanics Hall, to accommodate those of their workmen
who had no permanent homes. Sometime in the late 1850’s,
Joseph Gabler remodeled the building and turned it into the
Glass Lake Hotel.

Some of those ‘“off hand” glass pieces made by the
Cabler Brothers in the 1830’s are siill cwned by local
collectors.
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the picture. Many of the other  was taken from the top of Schuman Read, near the house once
company as well. The pleture  occupied by Richard Knowlson,
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